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MAY 2 41985

Docket No. 030-19750 License No. 29-21079-01

Gow-Mac Instrument Co.
ATTN: Robert J. Mathieu

Vice President
P.O. Box 32
Bound Brook, New Jersey 08805

Gentlemen:

Subject: Notice of Violation /85-01

This refers to your request for termination dated March 26, 1985. The
Certificate of Disposition of Materials identifies C.A.L. Technologies Inc. of
Somerville N.J. as the recipient of your Tracor Instrument Inc. detector cell
containing Nickel-63. A review of our records indicates that C.A.L.
Technologies is not specifically licensed to receive and possess this model of
detector cell. Your transfer of licensed material to a licensee not
specifically licensed to receive that material is a violation of Section 30.41

(c) of.10 CFR Part 30. Section 30.41 states:

"(c) Before transferring byproduct material to a specific lice.1see of the
Commission or an Agreement State or to a general licensee who is required
to register with the Commission or with an Agreement State prior to
receipt of the byproduct material, the licensee transferring the material-
shall verify that the transferee's license authorizes the receipt of the
type, form, and quantity of byproduct material to be transferred."

This Notice of Violation is sent to you under the provisions of Section 2.201
of the NRC's " Rules of Practice", Part 2, Title 10, Code of Federal
Regulations. Section 2.201 requires you to submit to this office a written
statement or explanation in reply.

You are required to reply to this Notice within 30 days of the date above.
Your request for termination will be delayed pending receipt of your response
to this notice . Address your reply to Region I, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission, Attention: John E. Glenn, Ph.D., Chief, Nuclear Materials Section
B, 631 Park Avenue, King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406.

In accordance with Section 2.790 of the NRC's " Rule of Practice," Part 2,
Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, a copy of this letter and your reply
will be placed in the Public Document Room.

The response directed by this Notice are not subject to the clearance
procedures of the Office of Management and Budget as required by the Paperwork-

Reduction Act of 1980, PL 96-511.
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?We. request that you give prompt-attention to these matters. Should you have
any questions regarding them, we would be' pleased to discuss them with you.

-Sincerely,

Original Signed ihr:
John E. Glenn

'
.

John E. Glenn, Ph.D, Chief
Nuclear Materials Safety Section B,
Division of Radiation Safety

and Safeguards

cc:
Public Document room (PDR)
Nuclear Safety Information Center (NSIC)

-State-of New Jersey

bec:
Region I Docket Room (w/ concurrences)
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